#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LLC, Á LIABILITY

2

1

3

4

5

**SEVENTY** 

COMPANY,

NEVADA LIMITED

6

7 8

||v.

9

10

11

12

13 14

15

16

17

18 V.

19

2021

22

23

2425

26

27

28

Case No.: 82338 (lead case)

Electronically Filed Oct 11 2021 11:29 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

**Appellants** 

FORE STARS, LTD., A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY; 180 LAND CO., LLC, A NEVADA

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY:

ACRES,

DANIEL OMERZA, DARREN BRESEE, STEVE CARIA,

Respondents.

FORE STARS, LTD., A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY; 180 LAND CO., LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY; SEVENTY ACRES, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,

# I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED.

- 1. Whether the district court erred in granting the Residents' special motion to dismiss (anti-SLAPP motion) pursuant to NRS 41.635 *et seq.*?
- 2. Whether the district court erred in awarding the Residents attorney fees pursuant to NRS 41.670?

### II. STATEMENT OF FACTS.

### A. The Parties.

Appellants Fore Stars, Ltd., 180 Land Co., LLC, and Seventy Acres, LLC, (collectively "Appellants" or "Landowners") are developing approximately 250 acres of land they own and control in Las Vegas, Nevada formerly known as the Badlands Golf Course property (hereinafter the "Land"). See Joint Appendix ("APP") 3. They already have the absolute right to develop the Land under its

Given the number of parties in the underlying litigation, references in this opening brief to them will mostly be to the designations used in the district court, their actual names, or descriptive terms such as "Landowners" for Appellants or "Residents" for Respondents as they have referred to themselves in the underlying litigation. References to "Appellants" and "Respondents" will be kept to a minimum. See NRAP 28(d)("In briefs and at oral argument, parties will be expected to keep to a minimum references to parties by such designations as "appellant" and "respondent." It promotes clarity to use the designations used in the lower court or the actual names of parties, or descriptive terms such as "the employee," "the injured person," etc.").

present RDP 7 zoning, which means that up to 7.49 dwelling units per acre may be constructed on it. See APP 0003-0004. The Land is adjacent to the Queensridge Common Interest Community ("Queensridge") which was created and organized under the provisions of NRS Chapter 116. See APP 0003-0007. Respondents Daniel Omerza ("Omerza"), Darren Bresee ("Bresee"), and Steve Caria ("Caria") (collectively "Respondents" or "Residents") are certain residents of Queensridge who strongly oppose any development of the Land. See APP 0002. Rather than properly participate in the political process, however, the Residents used unjust and unlawful tactics to sabotage the Landowners' development rights and their livelihoods. See APP 0001-00095. They did so despite having received and being bound by prior, express written notice that, among other things, the Land is developable and any views or location advantages they have enjoyed may be obstructed by future development. See APP 0003-0007.

# B. The Landowners' Complaint.

In May 2018, the Landowners filed their complaint, alleging intentional and negligent interference with prospective economic advantage, intentional and negligent misrepresentation, and civil conspiracy. *See* APP 0001-0095. These claims are based on the fact that the Residents executed purchase agreements when they purchased their residences which expressly acknowledged their receipt of: (1) Master Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements for

Oueensridge ("Queensridge Master Declaration" or "CC&Rs"), recorded in 1996; 1 2 3 4 5 6 Course; (4) Additional Disclosure Section 7 – Views/Location Advantages stating 7 8 or diminish any location advantage; and (5) Public Offering Statement for 10

12 13

11

15

16

14

17

18

19 20

21

22 23

24 25

26

27 28

(2) Notice of Zoning Designation of Adjoining Lot disclosing that the Land was zoned RPD 7; (3) Additional Disclosures Section 4 - No Golf Course or Membership Privileges stating Residents acquired no rights in the Badlands Golf

that future construction in the planned community may obstruct or block any view

Queensridge Towers which included these same disclaimers. See APP 0003-0007.

Additionally, the deeds to the Residents' respective residences "are clear by their respective terms that they have no rights to affect or control the use of [the Landowners'] real property." See id. The Residents nevertheless promulgated, solicited, circulated, and executed the following declaration ("Declaration") to their Queensridge neighbors in March 2018:

TO: City of Las Vegas

The Undersigned purchased a residence/lot in Queensridge which is located within the Peccole Ranch Master Planned Community.

The undersigned made such purchase in reliance upon the fact that the open space/natural drainage system could not be developed pursuant to the City's Approval in 1990 of the Peccole Ranch Master Plan and subsequent formal actions designating the open space/natural drainage system in its General Plan as Parks Recreation – Open Space which land use designation does not permit the building of residential units.

At the time of purchase, the undersigned paid a significant lot premium to the original developer as consideration for the open space/natural drainage system....

APP 0018.

The Residents did so at the behest of Frank Schreck, a neighbor and local attorney, who prepared the contents of the Declaration based on a district court order that was later reversed by this Court and then lobbied Omerza, Bresee, and Caria to circulate and solicit signatures on copies of the Declaration as part of a plan to sabotage the Landowners' development of the Land.<sup>2</sup> See APP 0002-0016. The Residents joined Schreck and participated in the plan despite having received prior, express written notice that (i) the CC&Rs do not apply to the Land, (ii) the Landowners have the absolute right to develop the Land based solely on the RPD 7 zoning, and (iii) any views and/or locations advantages they enjoyed could be obstructed in the future. See APP 0003-0006, 0020-0095. In promulgating, soliciting, circulating, and executing the Declaration, the Residents also disregarded other, publicly available district court orders applying to their similarly-situated neighbors in Queensridge which expressly found that: (i) the Landowners have complied with all relevant provisions of NRS Chapter 278 and properly followed procedures for approval of a parcel map over their property; (ii) Queensridge is governed by NRS Chapter 116 and not NRS Chapter 278A because the Land is not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Binion v City of Las Vegas et al., Hon. Jim Crockett, Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct. Case No. A-17-752344-J, January 11, 2018. The district court's order ("Crocket decision" or "Binion case") was later reversed by this Court. See Seventy Acres v. Binion, Case No. 75481 (August 26, 2020).

1 w
2 th
3 of
5 La
6 ha
8 no
9 ha
10 C
12 Se
13 ba
14 ba

within a planned unit development; (iii) the Land is not subject to the CC&Rs, and the Landowners' applications to develop the Land are not prohibited by, or violative of, them; (iv) Queensridge residents have no vested rights in the Land; (v) the Landowners' development applications are legal and proper; (vi) the Landowners have the absolute right to close the golf course and not water it; (vii) the Land is not open space and drainage because it is zoned RPD 7; and (viii) the Landowners have the absolute right to develop the Land because zoning – not the Peccole Ranch Conceptual Master Plan – dictates its use and the Landowners' rights to develop it. 

See id. The Residents further ignored another district court order dismissing claims based on findings that similarly contradicted the statements in the Residents' declarations. See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Attached to the Complaint are two (2) district court orders in *Peccole v. Fore Stars et al.*, case no. A-16-739654-C ("Peccole Litigation"), Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada. *See* APP 20. The Peccoles appealed those district court decisions to the Nevada Supreme Court (Nos. 72410 and 72455). On December 22, 2017, this Court dismissed the appeal in Docket No. 72455 "as to the order entered November 30, 2016" because it lacked jurisdiction over the appeal of the order granting the motion to dismiss. *See* 12/22/17 Order at p. 3. As to the remaining consolidated appeals, this Court issued an order affirming the district court decisions in the Peccole Litigation on October 17, 2018. *See* 10/17/18 Order at p. 5. Also attached to the Complaint is a district court order in *Binion v. Fore Stars et al.*, case no. A-15-729053-B ("Binion/Fore Stars Litigation"), Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada. *See* APP 92.

the residents within Queensridge, do not and could not live in the Peccole Ranch Master Planned Community as their executed declarations provide. *See* 0001-0095. They do not pay dues to the Peccole Ranch Master Planned Community, they did not execute any documents providing they are within the Peccole Ranch Master Planned Community and there is no mention of the Peccole Ranch Master Plan on their deeds, title, or other any other recorded instrument against their property. *See id*.

Moreover, and perhaps more importantly, these Residents, along with all of

In sum, the Complaint alleges that the Residents have intentionally and/or negligently participated in multiple concerted actions such as "preparation, promulgation, circulation, solicitation and execution" of false statements and/or declarations for the purpose of conjuring up sham opposition to the development of the Land. *See* 0001-0095. In particular, the Residents fraudulently procured signatures of Queensridge residents by picking and choosing the information they shared with their neighbors in order to manipulate them into signing copies of the Declaration. *See id.* They simply ignored or disregarded known, material facts that directly conflicted with the statements in the Declaration. *See id.* They did so with the intent to deliver such false statements and/or declarations to the City of Las Vegas ("City") for the improper purpose of presenting a false narrative to council members, deceiving them into denying the Landowners' applications and,

ultimately, sabotaging the Landowners' development rights and livelihoods. See id.

# C. Frank Schreck's Engagement As Defense Counsel.

Upon filing of the Complaint, Schreck engaged his firm, Brownstein Hyatt Farber & Schreck LLP, to defend the Residents on a contingency basis. *See* APP 1359. Schreck's firm has purportedly spent nearly 650 hours working on the case since then at hourly rates upwards of \$875.<sup>4</sup> *See* APP 1359, 1394-1420. Defense counsel did so even though the Residents have never asserted any counterclaims and have no other affirmative basis for recovery.

### D. The Residents' Motions To Dismiss.

Instead of answering the Complaint, the Residents filed motions to dismiss pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) and NRS 41.635 et seq. (Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute). See APP 0148-0162; APP 0163-0197. In their anti-SLAPP special motion to dismiss, the Residents asserted that their conduct was "communications with fellow residents" and "consist[ed] of nothing but First Amendment activities." See APP 0172, APP 0167. The Landowners opposed both motions to dismiss arguing, among other things, that Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute was not implicated because their claims against the Residents are based on their wrongful conduct rather than

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Frank Schreck himself billing for 22.6 hours totaling \$19,775 raising ethical considerations.

7

8

9 10

11 12

14 15

13

16 17

18

19 20

2122

2324

25

26

27

28

free speech. *See* APP 0204-0208; APP 0230-0232. Alternatively, the Landowners requested that they be allowed to conduct limited discovery pursuant to NRS 41.660(4). *See* APP 0215-0216; APP 0232-0233.

In particular, the Landowners requested they be allowed discovery in order to obtain facts, including, but not limited to, from whom they received the information stated in the Declaration, who prepared it, whether they read their CC&Rs and/or the district court orders in the Peccole Litigation, what they understood to be the implications of their CC&Rs as well as the court orders, why they believed the Declaration to be accurate, what efforts they took, if any, to ascertain the truth of the information in the Declaration, and with whom and the contents of the conversations they had with other Queensridge residents. See APP 0215-0216; APP 0232-0233. The Landowners pointed out that the information sought was in the possession of the Residents, or third parties with whom they are connected, and included facts and evidence of their actions, knowledge, and motives surrounding their efforts to conjure up false opposition to the Landowners' development plans in order to disrupt their business interests, delay or defeat development of their Land, harm their reputation, and ruin their livelihood. See APP 0215, 0217; APP 0232. The Landowners' counsel affidavit further detailed the limited discovery sought to "demonstrate with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing of their claims." APP 0215.

A hearing on the Residents' motions to dismiss was held on May 14, 2018. See APP 1651-1712. Thereafter, the district court permitted the parties to submit supplemental brief and/or exhibits. See APP 1704-1706. The Landowners submitted legislative history related to the 2015 amendment to NRS 41.635 et seq. to point out the "importance of allowing discovery" if necessary for plaintiffs to demonstrate their claims have minimal merit. See APP 0372.

The Residents filed an interlocutory appeal, as permitted by statute, and while that appeal was pending, the Landowner again sought the right to conduct discovery. APP 0573-0631. The Residents pushed back hard against this. APP 0632-0639. They objected to any discovery and objected to the Discovery Commissioner's Report and Recommendation. APP 0671-0679; APP 0680-0681; APP 0682-0688. The district court acquiesced to the Residents and denied any discovery. APP 0713-0715.

# E. Appeal In Case No. 76273.

The district court denied both motions in their entirety, and the Residents' interlocutory appeal pursuant to NRS 41.670(4) followed.<sup>5</sup> *See Omerza v. Fore Stars*, 2020 WL 406783, at \*6-7 (Jan. 23, 2020) (unpublished disposition). On

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Residents also filed a petition for extraordinary writ, challenging the district court's denial of their motion to dismiss pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5). This Court denied the writ petition on October 17, 2018.

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

F. Remand, The Landowners' Discovery Red

# F. Remand, The Landowners' Discovery Requests, And The District Court's Order Limiting Discovery.

January 23, 2020, this Court vacated the order denying the Residents' anti-SLAPP

special motion to dismiss, concluding that the Residents met their burden at step

one of the anti-SLAPP analysis. See id. With respect to the step-two burden under

NRS 41.660(3)(b), the Court determined that the Landowners had not demonstrated

with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on their claims. See id. at \*13.

However, the Court recognized that NRS 41.660(4) provides for discovery related

to the step-two burden and that the Landowners had alternatively requested such

discovery pursuant to the statute. See id. Because the district court never ruled on

the merits of the request, this Court remanded the matter to the district court for

resolution of the discovery issue. See id. at \*14. Thereafter, the Residents' petition

for rehearing was denied in its entirety and the remittitur issued. See APP 0729-

On remand, the Landowners sought to depose Omerza, Bresee, and Caria regarding their actions, knowledge, and motives surrounding their efforts to conjure up false opposition to the Landowners' development plans in order to disrupt their business interests, delay or defeat development of their Land, harm their reputation, and ruin their livelihood. *See* APP 0731-0737, 0800-0815. The Landowners also requested limited written discovery, including requests for production, requests for admissions, and interrogatories on the Residents prior to taking their depositions.

See id. The Residents opposed any discovery, and the district court initially permitted the Landowners to serve one set of requests for production of documents on each Resident for a total of fifteen (15) requests allocated among them. See APP 0738-0749. The district court also permitted the Landowners to depose the Residents but limited each deposition to four (4) hours. See APP 0749. The discovery period was limited to approximately six (6) weeks and the Landowners' other discovery requests were denied. See id.

Rather than simply responding, the Residents immediately sought to circumvent any discovery, filing a request to further limit discovery disguised as a "request for clarification." *See* APP 0750-0752. The Landowners were not permitted to respond, and the district court issued a subsequent order on June 5, 2020 which further limited the discovery. *See* APP 0753.

Thereafter, the Landowners served requests for production on the Residents, seeking information as to the beliefs formed by the Residents related to the statements in the Declaration (i.e., their state of mind) and the documents that supported those beliefs. *See* APP 0800-0815. The Residents refused to answer the discovery, claiming it was overbroad. *See* APP 0738-0748, 07544444-0799. In a good faith effort to resolve the matter, the Landowners served amended requests for production and ultimately only posed eight (8) questions to Omerza, four (4) to Caria, and three (3) to Bresee. *See* APP 0800-0815.

and other individuals concerning the Land; (2) title and escrow documents related to the Residents' purchase of their residence/lot in Queensridge; (3) documents related to the Residents' statements in the Declaration that they purchased their residence/lot in reliance on the fact that the open space/natural drainage system could not be developed; (4) documents concerning the Residents' statements in their affidavits that they had "no understanding that any of the statements are false;" (5) non-privileged communications related to the good faith component of the special motion to dismiss; (6) non-privileged communications regarding the allegations in the Complaint; (7) documents establishing that the Residents did not receive certain disclosures related to the purchase of their residence/lot; and (8) documents between the Residents related to the declarations gathered and their affidavits. See id; see also APP 0830-1216. The Landowners did so to discover where the Residents got their information and what they were relying on when they made the statements in the Declaration and their affidavits because the statements were not, in fact, truthful and are the basis for the Landowners' misrepresentation, interference with economic relations, and conspiracy claims. See id.

Specifically, the Landowners sought: (1) documents between the Residents

Once again, the Residents objected, refused to answer the discovery requests, and instead filed a motion for protective order claiming that the discovery was still overbroad. *See* APP 0754-0799, 0816-0821. According to the Residents,

15 16

17 18

19

20 21

22

24

23

26

25

27

28

permissible discovery under NRS 41.660(4) was limited to documents, if any, they relied upon in making the statements within the declarations. See id. The Landowners opposed the motion because the discovery permitted by NRS 61.660(4) includes any information necessary – and in the possession of another party or third party, and not reasonably available without discovery – to meet the step-two burden under NRS 61.660(3)(b). See APP 0800-0815. Moreover, the Court's order vacating and remanding noted that the Residents' declarations were sufficient for purposes of their step-one burden, "absent evidence that clearly and directly overcomes" them. See APP 0716-0728. Thus, the Landowners asserted that they should be allowed to gather such evidence via their discovery requests. See APP 0800-0815.

A hearing on the Residents' motion for protective order was held on July 13, 2020. See APP 0825. Shortly thereafter, the district court granted the Residents' motion for protective order and further limited the Landowners' discovery requests to only the "topics of what documents [the Residents] relied on, what information [they] relied on, or whether that information was provided to [them] by third parties, all with respect to the declarations to the City Council." See APP 0823-0829.

#### The Landowners' Requests For Production And The G. Residents' Responses Thereto.

The Landowners served amended requests for production of documents in accordance with the district court's order, seeking the following five categories of

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