IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed
Supreme Court Case Nos.: 82338 (Lead Case)/8488024 2021 04:33 p.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

FORE STARS, LTD., A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY; 180 LAND CO., LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY; SEVENTY ACRES, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,

Appellants,

v.

DANIEL OMERZA, DARREN BRESEE, and STEVE CARIA,

Respondents.

Appeal From the Eighth Judicial District Court,
In and for the County of Clark
The Honorable Richard F. Scotti & The Honorable Crystal Eller, Presiding
District Court Case No.: A-18-771224-C

RESPONDENTS' CONSOLIDATED ANSWERING BRIEF

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

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

On the prior appeal, this Court found that the Residents had met their burden under the first prong of the anti-SLAPP analysis by demonstrating by a preponderance of the evidence that the Landowners claims arise from good faith communications in furtherance of the right of free speech and the right to petition on matters of public interest.

This Court also determined that the Landowners failed to meet their burden under prong two to demonstrate a likelihood of success on the merits of their claims with admissible *prima facie* evidence.

The only basis for remand (rather than full reversal) was this Court's determination that the district court should consider whether the Landowners should have been permitted limited discovery pursuant to NRS 41.660(4) in order to meet their burden under the second prong. Indeed, this Court's remand order *only* allowed for consideration of the discovery issue. Under the mandate rule, all the district court could do was consider whether discovery was appropriate and, if discovery was allowed, provide the Landowners with an opportunity to reargue their burden under the second prong. That is exactly what the district court did.

NRS 41.660(4) only allows discovery if the requesting party makes a "showing" that information necessary to meet its burden on the second prong of the anti-SLAPP analysis is in the possession of another party or third party and not

otherwise available without discovery. In such a case, the district court can only "allow limited discovery for the purpose of ascertaining such information." NRS 41.660(4).

In this case, after Landowners requested the opportunity to brief exactly what discovery they were requesting and the basis for it. The district court allowed the Landowners the discovery they requested. When they sought more, the district court properly issued a protective order. Any allegation by the Landowners that the Residents did not properly respond to the authorized discovery was abandoned when the Landowners chose not to file a motion to compel.

Once discovery was completed, the Landowners had the opportunity to supplement their argument on the second prong of the anti-SLAPP analysis.

Instead, for the most part, they tried to relitigate the issue on Prong 1 which had already been decided by this Court.

As to the Landowners' efforts to make a *prima facie* showing with admissible evidence supporting their claims, this Court need not even reach the complex analysis of the litigation privilege and whether the City Council hearings *would have* been quasi-judicial proceedings. Mindful that this Court already ruled that the Landowners' initial anti-SLAPP opposition was devoid of evidence to support any of their claims, it was incumbent on the Landowners to address each of their claims in the supplemental opposition to the anti-SLAPP motion and

demonstrate *prima facie* evidence to support each of them. Yet the Landowners abandoned all but their claim for conspiracy.

Even at that, Landowners failed to make the requisite evidentiary showing. They offered no evidence to support an explicit or tacit agreement to do something unlawful, as required under Nevada law. Moreover, by failing to make out any of their other substantive claims, the conspiracy claim failed, as a matter of law. Finally, the *sine qua non* of a conspiracy is resulting injury. However, because the Landowners successfully appealed the district court ruling (in another case) that would have required them to obtain a modification of the mater plan or General Plan, the City Council hearing for which the form declaration were being distributed never occurred and, therefore, there could have been no damages from those declarations.

Therefore, the anti-SLAPP motion was properly granted because the Landowners could not meet their burden under the second prong of the anti-SLAPP analysis.

As to the award of attorneys fees, the Landowners have not demonstrated that the district court abused its discretion. The record is clear that the district court applied the correct law and considered all of the necessary factors in making

the award. Therefore, because substantial evidence⁴ supports the award, the district court's discretion awarding the fees should not be disturbed.

VI. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The Landowners Were Granted All the Discovery to Which They Were Entitled (if Not More)

The Landowners devote much of their discovery argument to discussing standard by which a party resisting an anti-SLAPP motion might be entitled to discovery. But the Landowners ignore that pursuant to NRS 41.660(4), it was their burden to make a "showing" that information "necessary" to meet their burden under the second prong of anti-SLAPP analysis was "not reasonably available without discovery." The Landowners also ignore that *they* told the district court they would provide a supplemental brief setting out what discovery they were requesting and why it was relevant.

The Landowners argue that there were many requests for discovery in the course of this case. But they are responsible for what they told the district court. Landowners' counsel asked for additional briefing. She told the district court that "there was an initial request made by Plaintiffs...for discovery, but 100 thing have happened since that time." App 11:1737. Therefore, in order to "allow the Court to make an educated decision, an informed decision, based on everything that's

⁴ "[E]vidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. *Winchell v. Schiff*, 124 Nev. 938, 944, 193 P.3d 946, 950 (2008)

happened since that initial request for discovery," she argued for additional briefing in which she promised she would explain what discovery was being requested: "[l]et me do some additional briefing just on what discovery is requested, why it's relevant, and how it comports with the Nevada Supreme Court's ruling." APP 11:1737 (emphasis added).

The district court allowed the additional briefing. The Landowners were quite specific about what discovery they were seeking. They expressly requested depositions, requests for production of documents, and requests for admission whereby they would "be able to ask the Defendants what documents they are relying on, what information they are relying on, or if that information was provided to them by third persons." APP 6:735.

The requirement for a "showing" under NRS 41.660(4) has meaning. The Landowners were only eligible to obtain discovery for which they were able to make a showing of necessity. And, even then, the district court could only allow "limited discovery for the purpose of ascertaining such information." Thus, the district court's grant of limited discovery to address Prong 2 was limited to that which was requested by the Landowners in their brief (the only thing on which the Landowners made any showing).

Moreover, as discussed above and below, because the Landowners could not satisfy the critical damages element of their claims, no amount of discovery on the

issues about which Landowners now argue would have been sufficient to make out their claims. Therefore, it was impossible to make a showing that any additional discovery was necessary or warranted.

The Landowners also suggest that more discovery should have been permitted because (they claim) the Residents did not properly respond to the discovery that was authorized. However, the Landowners never filed a motion to compel (for reasons that appear obvious). They had every right to seek relief from the discovery commissioner or, perhaps, directly from the district court. Having failed to do so, they have waived any objection to the discovery responses. *See*, *Valley Health Sys., LLC v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct. of State ex rel. Cty. of Clark*, 127 Nev. 167, 172, 252 P.3d 676, 679 (2011) (discussing waiver of discovery issues not raised with the discovery commissioner in the first instance).

B. The Landowners Were Not Entitled to Relitigate Whether the Residents Met Their Burden on the First Prong of the Anti-SLAPP Analysis

In the appeal of the prior ruling on the anti-SLAPP motion, this Court expressly held:

[i]n sum, we conclude that the district court erred by finding that appellants had not met their burden under NRS 41.660(3)(a) to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that respondents' claims are grounded on appellants' good faith communications in furtherance of their petitioning rights on an issue of public concern.

The Court was also clear in its remand order to the district court:

...we vacate the portion of the district court's order denying appellants' anti-SLAPP special motion to dismiss and remand to the district court for it to determine whether respondents are entitled to discovery under NRS 41.660(4).

Pursuant to the "mandate rule," a court must effectuate a higher court's ruling on remand. *Estate of Adams By & Through Adams v. Fallini*, 132 Nev. 814, 819, 386 P.3d 621, 624 (2016). The law-of-the-case doctrine directs a court not to "re-open questions decided (i.e., established as law of the case) by that court or a higher one in earlier phases." *Id*.

In considering the Prong 1 issues, this Court explained that the Landowners failed to present "evidence the clearly and directly overcomes" the declarations that were offered by the Residents. *Omerza*, 455 P.3d 841, *2. As a result, the Court explained that the Residents:

...met their burden of showing by a preponderance of the evidence that their communications were truthful or made without knowledge of their falsehood (i.e., that they were "good faith" communications) through the sworn declarations attached to their special motion to dismiss, which is sufficient to satisfy the good-faith component of the step-one inquiry under NRS 41.660(3)(a).

Id. Thus, this Court found (and the law of the case is) that the Residents "met their burden of showing that the communications were truthful or made without knowledge of their falsehood." *Id.*

The Landowners were not entitled to relitigate Prong 1. Instead, in its clear

mandate, the Court simply instructed the district court to "determine whether respondents are entitled to discovery under NRS 41.660(4)." As discussed above, NRS 41.660(4) only allows discovery related to Prong 2 of the anti-SLAPP analysis. That is the portion of the analysis in which the Landowners were required to demonstrate that they had *prima facie* evidence to support their claims.

Thus, all of the Landowners' direct and indirect arguments that the Residents failed to meet their burden on the first prong of the anti-SLAPP analysis should be disregarded as inconsistent with this Court's prior decision.

C. The Landowners Failed to Meet Their Burden on Prong 2 to Demonstrate a Probability of Success by Providing Admissible Evidence to Make a *Prima Facie* Showing on Their Claims

In order to meet the burden on Prong 2, "in addition to stating a legally sufficient claim, the plaintiff must demonstrate that the claim is supported by a prima facie showing of facts that, if true, would support a favorable judgment." *Omerza*, 455 P.3d 841, *3.

In its prior decision, this Court expressly held that the Landowners' preappeal anti-SLAPP briefing "did not present 'prima facie evidence,' as required by NRS 41.660(3)(b), to demonstrate a probability of prevailing on their claim." *Id.*Therefore, on remand, if discovery was allowed (as it was), the Landowners were obligated to present *new* arguments with admissible evidentiary support to make out a *prima facie* showing on each of their claims.

The Landowners failed to do so.

1. The Landowners abandoned all claims other than the conspiracy claim

Even though this Court's prior decision expressly informed the Landowners that they had failed to make *any* evidentiary showing on any of their claims and explained what was required to meet their burden (*see*, *id* at *4), the Landowners did not offer any new evidence or argument in their supplemental opposition for any of their claims *other than* conspiracy. APP 7:0845-0846.

Not once did the Landowners present any evidence or offer any argument to support their interference, misrepresentation, or injunctive relief claims. As a result, any opposition to the anti-SLAPP motion on those claims has been abandoned and the Landowners' arguments on those claims in their Opening Brief should be disregard.

Perhaps the Landowners believe the *de novo* standard of review that applies to anti-SLAPP motions allows them to offer new evidence and raise new arguments for the first time on appeal. But that would be incorrect, as a matter of law. "[A] *de novo* standard of review does not trump the general rule that a point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal." *Schuck v. Signature Flight Support of Nevada, Inc.*, 126 Nev. 434, 436, 245 P.3d 542, 544 (2010).

Because the *only* arguments on these five claims were contained in the

Landowners' initial anti-SLAPP opposition and because this Court already determined that those arguments did not meet the Landowners' Prong 2 burden, the failure to offer new argument as to those claims on remand was a waiver of any further argument and those claims have been abandoned. They cannot be raised for the first time on this appeal.

2. The Landowners failed to meet their Prong 2 burden on the conspiracy claim

The district court correctly found that the Landowners did not offer *prima* facie evidence to support their conspiracy claim.

This Court explained that the Landowners were required to "demonstrate that the claim is supported by a prima facie showing of facts" that is supported by "competent, admissible evidence." *Omerza*, 455 P.3d 841, *3. This is the same standard as a court applies in a summary judgment motion. *Id*.

The Landowners hardly tried to meet this burden, devoting only one page to the entire factual and legal argument. Neither the "evidence" offered nor the legal argument met the burden set out by this Court.

An actionable civil conspiracy "consists of a combination of two or more persons who, by some concerted action, intend to accomplish an unlawful objective for the purpose of harming another, and damage results from the act or acts." *Consol. Generator-Nevada, Inc. v. Cummins Engine Co.*, 114 Nev. 1304, 1311 (1998) (affirming summary judgment for defendant on the plaintiff's

conspiracy claim because there was no evidence that the two defendants had agreed and intended to harm the plaintiff). The evidence must be "of an explicit or tacit agreement between the alleged conspirators." *Guilfoyle v. Olde Monmouth Stock Transfer Co.*, 130 Nev. 801, 813, 335 P.3d 190, 198 (2014) (upholding district court's grant of summary judgment where plaintiff "has presented no circumstantial evidence from which to infer an agreement between [defendants] to harm" plaintiff). Here, the Landowners did not offer any evidence of an agreement to do something unlawful.

The lack of evidence of damages is also fatal to the Landowners' conspiracy claim. Such a claim fails where the plaintiff cannot show that he suffered any actual harm. Sutherland v. Gross, 105 Nev. 192, 197 (1989); see also Aldabe v. Adams, 81 Nev. 280, 286 (1965), overruled on other grounds by Siragusa v. Brown, 114 Nev. 1384 (1998) ("The damage for which recovery may be had in a civil action is not the conspiracy itself but the injury to the plaintiff produced by specific overt acts."). "The gist of a civil conspiracy is not the unlawful agreement but the damage resulting from that agreement or its execution. The cause of action is not created by the conspiracy but by the wrongful acts done by the defendants to the injury of the plaintiff." Eikelberger v. Tolotti, 96 Nev. 525, 528 (1980) (emphasis added).

The Landowners' entire set of claims is based on the Residents signing

and/or circulating the form declarations to community members to oppose the Landowners' efforts to change the land use restrictions on the Badlands. The Landowners offered no evidence they were damaged. Why? Perhaps because the City Council proceedings never took place. Instead, the Landowners appealed (successfully) Judge Crockett's decision and the City Council's prior decisions to allow development without a modification to the Peccole Ranch Master Plan were affirmed.

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